IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 00 N 1454

PARK HILL TENANTS COUNCIL,
LOW INCOME TENANTS ASSOCIATION,
GERTRUDE MYERS, AND ANGELIQUE WOQODS,

Rlaintiffs,
V.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT, ANDREW M. CUOMO,
Secretary of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, in his officid capacity,
COLORADO HOUSING AND FINANCE AUTHORITY, DAVID HERLINGER, Executive
Director of the Colorado Housing and Finance Authority, in his officid capacity,

HORN CREEK DEVELOPMENT CO., LLLP, formerly known as Horn Creek Development Co,
Ltd. and PHG ACQUISITIONS, CORP., general partner of Horn Creek Development Co., Ltd.

Defendants.

PLAINTIFFFSMEMORANDUM IN RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT
COLORADO HOUSING AND FINANCE AUTHORITY’S
MOTION TO DISMISSAMENDED COMPLAINT

Fantiffs hereby submit their response to Defendant Colorado Housing and Finance Authority’s
Moation to Dismiss Plaintiffs Amended Complaint.
. INTRODUCTION
Although this case concerns the plight of only one federdly-subsidized housing complex in Denver,
Park Hill Gardens West, the potentid loss of this one low-income housing complex is part of amgor
affordable housing cridis facing tenants and communities across the country. Thousands of units of
privately-owned affordable housing constructed or rehabilitated as far back as the late 1960's are at

risk of lossin Denver and nationwide as aresult of expiring use restrictions or expiring long-term



subsidy contracts.  The Center for Affordable Housing and Educationd Qudity for the City of Denver,

“Housing in Denver: Problems, Needs and Opportunities,” (December 1999) ( ).

Congress has provided HUD with clear mandates and the authority necessary to enable it to prevent
the loss of these affordable housing units. As early as 1983 Congress recognized the need to preserve
affordable renta units by enacting Section 250 of the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-15.
Thislaw gives clear direction to HUD to not accept the proposa by the owner of Park Hill Gardens
West to prepay the mortgage because of the critical need for such housing in the Denver area. The Fair
Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 8 3604 et seq. provides additiond judtification for HUD’ s refusal to permit
the prepayment of the mortgage that will result in the loss of these affordable housing units for lower
income minorities. More recently, in order to address the twin gods of “[preserving] low income
housing affordability and availability while reducing the long term codts of project based assstance,”
Congress enacted two mgor legidative initiatives giving HUD clear guidance on the trestment of
subsidy contracts renewds, as well as explicit direction on the gods to be fulfilled by HUD. See
Multifamily Asssted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997, TitleV of Pub. L. No. 105-65,
111 Stat. 1385 (October 27, 1997) (“MAHRAA”) and Preserving Affordable Housing for Senior
Citizens and Families into the 21t Century Act, Pub. L. No. 106-74, TitleV (October 20, 1999)
(“21st Century Act”).

Thefirg of these initiatives, the MAHRAA, set up a mechanism to reduce debt service and
operaing costs for asssted multifamily developmentsin order to permit reduction of subsidy contract
rent levels where the existing levels are higher than rents for comparable market-rate units. This

program, known as HUD’ s “mark-to-market” program, alows HUD to restructure mortgage debt for



HUD-insured mortgages o that the portion of the rent subsidies required for mortgage payments can
be reduced or diminated. In order to promote efficiency in debt restructuring, MAHRAA required
HUD to contract with independent entities, called “Participating Adminidrative Entities’ or “PAES” to
administer the mark-to-market program in each state. MAHRAA, Section 513. Defendant Colorado
Housing Finance Authority (“*CHFA”) isthe PAE under contract with HUD to administer the mark-to-
market program in Colorado.

The second initiative, the 21t Century Act, gave HUD more explicit guidance on rent levels for
contract renewds, including a mandate to increase rent levels where necessary to preserve
developments; made corrections in the mark-to-market program; and authorized specid “ enhanced’
vouchersto reduce the harm to tenantsin the event of non-renewd of asubsidy contract. While
authorizing enhanced vouchersin the 21st Century Act, Congress made clear that vouchers were only
to be viewed as alast resort—HUD’ sfirst duty isto preserve project-based subsidies wherever
possible. Inapproving S. 1596, the Senate’' s verson of the 21st Century Act, the Senate Committee
on Appropriations emphasi zed:

Thishill includeslegd authority to dlow HUD to provide section 8 renta assistance up

to the market rent of a unit for low-income families where owners of projects asssted

with section 8 project-based assistance choose to not renew their expiring section 8

contracts... The Committee believes that HUD must first make every effort to renew

the expiring section 8 contracts which are attached to this asssted housing, especidly

those projects located in low vacancy aress, including those in high cost urban aress...

Senate Committee on Appropriations Report No. 106-161 on S.1596, “Housing Certificate Fund

(Including Transfer of Funds) Committee Recommendation” (September 16, 1999) (emphasis

supplied) (available on the Library of Congress website a http://thomas.loc.gov).



In this case, HUD not only failed to pursue dternatives to preserve the property as subsidized
housingt, but HUD aso failed to follow the law regarding those steps to be taken to prevent the Owner
from opting out. Particularly because the harsh consequences of HUD’s actions fal amost entirely
upon African-American householdsin Park Hill Gardens West, HUD'’ s conduct not only contradicts
Congressiond directives regarding preservation of low-income housing, but also violatesHUD’s
obligations under the Fair Housing Act.

II. RELEVANT FACTS

Thefacts rdlevant on aMotion to Dismiss are those facts st out in Plaintiffs Amended
Complaint.

1. ARGUMENT
A. Standard of Review

A court faced with a12(b)(6) motion must “ accept dl thewd|-pleaded dlegations of the complaint
as true and must construe them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.” Williams v. Meese, 926 F.2d
994, 997 (10" Cir. 1991). Because“granting defendant’ smotion to dismissis aharsh remedy which must
be cautioudy studied . . . to protect the interests of justice,” Morgan v. City of Rawlins, 792 F.2d 975,
978 (10" Cir. 1986), a court should grant such mation “only if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff
can prove no st of factsin support of his clam that would entitle him to rdief.” Grider v. Texas Oil &

Gas Corp., 868 F.2d 1147, 1148 (10" Cir. 1989).

Iplaintiffs arefili ng with this Response a Motion to Amend Complaint and Third Amended Complaint. The
Third Amended Complaint setsforth Plaintiffs’ claim regarding the alternatives open to HUD and CHFA to preserve
Park Hill Gardens West as viable, affordable housing under MAHRAA and the 21% Century Act.
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Further, the federd rules require in a complaint only a "short and plain statement of the clam
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a). The Rule 8 standard contains "a
powerful presumption againg rejecting pleadings for falure to sate aclam.” Auster Oil & Gas, Inc. v.
Stream, 764 F.2d 381, 386 (5th Cir. 1985); see also Hall v. City of Santa Barbara, 833 F.2d 1270,
1274 (9th Cir. 1986) ("It is axiomatic that ‘the motion to dismiss for falure to sateaclamisviewed with
disfavor and is rarely granted.") (quoting Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice &
Procedure val. 5 § 1357, at 598 (1969)).

B. CHFA HasViolated the Fair Housing Act By Causing a Dispar ate Adver sel mpact Upon

African-Americans and by Failing to Comply with ItsObligation to Affirmatively Further

Fair Housing

CHFA misreads the Fair Housing Act, and attempts to evade its Fair Housing duties, when it
argues that it has no obligation to affirmatively further fair housing and that it has not made housing
unavailable because of racein violaion of the Fair Housing Act.2 CHFA’s argument seems to be that, if
anyone discriminated, it was the property owner, not CHFA. This argument ignores the fact that CHFA
was in a position to let the owner proceed as it did or to stop the owner from proceeding as it did by
refusing to alow the prepayment and enforcing the CHFA Regulatory Agreement. Being in this position,
CHFA was obligated to ensure that its actions did not cause a disparate impact upon any protected class,

aswdl asto seethat its actions were consstent with its obligation to affirmatively further fair housing.

1 CHFA’sActions Are Covered By the Fair Housing Act

2 Plaintiffs base their discrimination claims for relief against CHFA only on the provisions of the Fair
Housing Act. To the extent that claimsfor relief were also alleged in Plaintiffs Amended Complaint for violations of

Executive Order 11063 and 24 C.F.R. § 107, such clamsfor relief are withdrawn.
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a. The Fair Housing Act RequiresCHFA to EnsureThat ItsActionsDo Not
Cause A Disparate Impact Upon Protected Classes

As a preliminary matter, the Fair Housing Act prohibits both purposeful discrimination onthebasis
of race and prohibits those policies and practices that have a disparate impact on the basis of race
regardless of any discriminatory motive on the part of the defendant. See Bangarter v. Orem City Corp.,
46 F.3d 1491, 1501 (10" Cir. 1995). No showing of discriminatory intent is necessary to establish a
disparate impact dam. See Mountain Sde Mobile Estates Partnership v. Sec’y of HUD, 56 F.3d
1243, 1252 (10" Cir. 1995). Nothinginthe Complaint allegespurposeful discrimination by CHFA,; rather,
the Complaint aleges that CHFA’s actions or inactions have caused a disparate impact upon African-
Americans. See Amended Complaint at 1 59.

CHFA portrays the Owner’s conversion of gpartments from federaly-subsidized rentd units to
for-sale townhomes as aracidly neutra converson from one form of occupancy to another which does
not cause unlawful discrimination under the Fair Housing Act becauseit is not denying housing to African-
Americans on the basis of their race within the meaning of section 3604(a). However, “the necessary
premise of a disparate impact gpproach is that some [housing] practices, adopted without a deliberately
discriminatory motive, may in operation befunctionaly equivadent to intentiond discrimination.” Mountain
Sde, 56 F.3d at 1250-51 (quoting Watson v. Fort Worth Bank & Trust, 487 U.S. 977 (1988) (other
citaions omitted). An early disparate impact case, Metropolitan Housing Dev. Corp. v. Village of
Arlington Heights (“ Arlington 11”), 558 F.2d 1283 (7*" Cir. 1977), noted that the difficulty in reading
section 3604(a) of the Fair Housing Act to support a disparate impact claim is that the language of that

provison prohibits discrimination® because of race.” Id. at 1288. However, that court held that “[i]n light



of the declaration of congressond intent provided by section 3601 and the need to construe the act
expansvely in order to implement that god, we decline to take a narrow view of the phrase * because of
race’ contained in section 3604(a).” 1d. at 1289. The Court continued: “We therefore hold thet . . . a
violation of section 3604(a) can be established by ashowing of discriminatory effect without ashowing of
discriminatory intent.” 1d. Asnoted above, the Tenth Circuit haslikewise endorsed adiscriminatory effect
standard under 3601(a). See Mountain Sde, 56 F.3d at 1252.
b. CHFA IsObligated to Affirmatively Further Fair Housing

In addition to its duty not to discriminate, CHFA is dso obligated to affirmatively further fair
housng. Thefact that the language of the Satute, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 3608(€)(5), appliesonitsface only to HUD
doesnot relieve CHFA of thisduty. With respect to Park Hill GardensWest, CHFA hasacted asHUD's
agent, grantee, and contractor. See Amended Complaint, 1112, 21, 24. In such circumstances, courts
have held that agencies such as CHFA have the same obligation as HUD to affirmatively further fair
housing. See Oterov. N.Y. Hous. Auth., 484 F.2d 1122, 1133-34 (2" Cir. 1973) (affirmative duty to
further fair housing godsappliesto loca agenciesrecaving federd housing and urban devel opment funds);
followed by U.S. v. Charlottesville Redevel. & Hous. Auth., 718 F. Supp. 461, 464-65 (W.D. Va
1989).3

While CHFA refersto the obligation to affirmatively further fair housing asavagueimperdive, its

meaning has been wdll fleshed-out in cases. Thisduty has been interpreted to mean that an agency has*“a

3 In addition to the obl igation imposed by the Fair Housing Act, CHFA is also obliged to prevent
discriminatory practices pursuant to Executive Order 11063 and 24 C.F.R. § 107. 24 C.F.R. § 107.15(f) defines
“discriminatory practices’ broadly to include “use of apolicy or practice, or any arrangement, criterion or other
method which has the effect of denying equal housing opportunity.”
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a minimum, an obligation to assess negatively those aspects of a proposed course of action that would
further limit the supply of genuindy open housing and to assess postively those aspects of a proposed
course of action that would increase that supply.” NAACP v. HUD, 817 F.2d 149, 156 (1% Cir. 1987).

Thus, it is the obligation “to evauate alternative courses of action in light of their effect upon open
housng.” Id. at 157. See also Shannonv. U.S. Dept. of Hous. and Urban Devel., 436 F.2d 809 (3d
Cir. 1970), (HUD required to conduct study of effect of new development on racial composition of
surrounding area); Pleune v. Pierce, 765 F. Supp. 43, 47 (E.D.N.Y. 1991) (HUD’ sfailure to consider
impact of mixed-use development on racid compostion of surrounding neighborhoods arbitrary and
capricious).

The duty to affirmatively further fair housing is the duty to examine agency actions so asto avoid
causng adisparateimpact upon protected classes. Thismeanskeegping necessary statisticsand conducting
sudies a sgnificant decison-making junctures, such as deciding to allow a subsidized housing project to
prepay its mortgage and opt out of the subsidy program. As the court noted in Shannon, an agency
charged with affirmatively furthering fair housing “must utilize some indtitutionalized method whereby . . .
it has before it the relevant racid and socioeconomic information necessary for compliance with its duties
under . . . [the Fair Housing Act.]” 436 F.2d at 821.

2. CHFA IsLiablefor Causing Discriminatory I mpact

a. CHFA Was In the Position of Decison-Maker, and Made Decisions
Which Caused a Disparate | mpact Upon African-Americans

The U.S. Supreme Court has found thet the clear intent of Congressis for the Fair Housing Act

to be construed broadly. In Trafficantev. Metropolitan Life Insurance Co., 409 U.S. 205 (1972), the



Court commented that the language of the Act is“broad and inclusive,” id. at 209, that the Act carriesout
a*“policy that Congress consdered to be of the highest priority,” id. a 211, and that vitdity can be given
to thispolicy “only by agenerous congtruction” of the Satute. 1d. at 212. Ten yearsafter Trafficante the
Supreme Court again referred to “the broad remedia intent of Congress embodied in the [Fair Housing]
Act” in another unanimous Title VIII opinion. Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 380
(1982).

Liability under the Act isthus not limited to certain types of actors. Instead the reach of the Act
extends to anyone who commits one of the acts proscribed by the Act, with certain narrow exceptions not
at issue in this case*  Governmental--or quasi-governmental--defendants are not exempt. As the 6"
Circuit Court of Appedls has gated, “Congress intended § 3604 to reach a broad range of activities that
have the effect of denying housing opportunities to a member of a protected class. . . . When Congress
amended 8§ 3604(f) in 1988, it intended the section to reach not only actors who were directly involved in
the red estate business, but aso actorswho directly affect the availability of housing, such asstate or loca
governments.”® Michigan Protection and Advocacy Serv., Inc. v. Babin, 18 F.3d 337, 344 (6™ Cir.
1994) (citing H.R. Rep. No. 711, 100" Cong., 2d Sess. 22 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N.

2173, 2183 (other citations omitted).

4 Section 3603(b) (1)exempts “any single-family house sold or rented by an owner under certain limited
circumstances, and 3603(b)(2) exempts unitsin buildings that are occupied or intended to be occupied by no more
than four familiesif the owner maintains aresidence in the building. Section 3607 exempts “housing for ol der
persons’ from its prohibitions against familial status discrimination.

S Section 3604(f) contains language comparable to 3604(a), but appliesto discrimination on the basis of
handicap, as opposed to other protected classes. This section was added by the 1988 Fair Housing Amendments
Act.



Nor is CHFA relieved from liability as one “merely . . . responsible for putting the violator in the
position in which he can act improperly,” as asserted in CHFA’smation, citing Hollins v. Kraas, 369 F.
Supp. 1355, 1358 (N.D. I1l. 1973).6 CHFA'’sposition is nothing like the position of the Defendantsin the
Hollins case, in which the motionsto dismiss of an owner and bank were granted because the court found
them not lidble for the actions of arentd agent where the owner and bank had not authorized the rentd
agent to act astheir agents. 1d.

Fantiffs dlege that CHFA was itsdf in the position of declining or accepting prepayment of the
mortgege by the property owner inthiscase. See Amended Complaint, 1128. It approved the prepayment
and released the CHFA Regulatory Agreement. Amended Complaint, 1 38, 42. CHFA thus made the
affirmative decison to “waive’ the requirements of the CHFA Regulatory Agreement with respect to the
property owner. CHFA Mation to Dismiss, p.24. Thisactionwasaprerequisiteto the owner’ sattempted
election to opt out of the HAP contract. CHFA’s approval of prepayment was apparently taken in spite
of Congressiond god sregarding effortsto keep existing low-income housing subsidized, and intheabsence
of using the tools that Congress had provided to prevent property owners from opting out. AsHUD’s
designated PAE, CHFA was charged with making every effort to preseve Park Hill Gardens West as

viable affordable housing, including pursuing dternatives such asmortgagerestructuring under MAHRAA..”

® CHFA’sother cited case, Meadowbriar Home for Children, Inc. v. G.B. Gunn, 81 F.3d 521, 531 (5" Cir.
1996), is not relevant to the issue of whether CHFA was in a position to take action which violated the Fair Housing
Act. Inthat case, the Court affirmed the lower court’ s motion to dismiss Fair Housing Act and other claims against
two city officials sued in their individual capacities, finding that the officials were entitled to qualified immunity. Id.
at 529-32. CHFA also citesKennedy Park Home Ass' n v. City of Lackawanna, 318 F. Supp. 669, 694 (W.D.N.Y ),
aff'd, 436 F.2d 108 (2d Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S. 1010 (1971); Plaintiffs find nothing in the case to support
Defendant’ s argument.

" Plaintiffs proposed Third Amended Complaint articulates the manner in which CHFA, asHUD’s PAE,
failed to pursue alternatives to preserve Park Hill Gardens West in violation of Congressional intent.
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Due to the extreme adverse disparate impact upon African-Americansthat resulted, there can be no doubt

that CHFA violated its duties not to discriminate and to affirmatively further fair housing.
b. Conversion From One Form of Occupancy To Another May Constitute A
Discriminatory Act If There Is No Adequate Business Necessity That

Justifiesthe Dispar ate Impact of the Change

CHFA arguesthat the practice that has caused the displacement of adisparate number of African-
Americans is not actionable under the Fair Housing Act because it isa neutral conversion from one form
of occupancy to another. However, courts have not hesitated to hold that otherwise neutra actions of
rental property owners and others resulting in displacement of tenants which have a disparate impact on
racid minorities can violate the Fair Housng Act. Betsey v. Turtle Creek Assocs., 736 F.2d 983, 988
(4™ Cir. 1984) (plaintiffs made out prima facie case of disparate impact discrimination where apartment
complex’ sconversonto “al-adult” had the effect of digplacing greater percentagesof personsof color than
whites); Hispanics United of DuPage County v. Village of Addison, 988 F. Supp. 1130 (N.D. III.
1997) (in ruling on fairness of proposed settlement, court found that redevelopment of tax increment
financing area, which displaced large number of Hispanics, constituted disparate impact); Bronson v.
Crestwood Lake Section 1 Holding Corp., 724 F. Supp. 148, 153-54 (S.D.N.Y. 1989) (defendant’s
refusal to accept section 8 vouchers and imposition of income tests had unlawful disparate impact upon

AfricanAmericansand Lainoswhere* policieswould havetheeffect of disqudifying fromtenancies6.06%

of the minority households in the applicant pooal, but only 0.25% of nonminority householdsin the pool”).

8 The unpublished decision cited by CHFA, Williams v. 5300 Columbia Pike Corporation, 1996 U.S.
App. LEXIS 31004 (4" Cir. 1996), simply decides, without analysis, that the disparate effects test does not apply
wheretheissueisprice. Thisdecisionisin contrast to the decisions cited above and is not well-reasoned. Further,
it can be distinguished from the case at hand based upon the fact that, first, unlike CHFA, the private Williams
defendants were not subject to affirmative dutiesto prevent discrimination, and second, that their actions did not
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2. Plaintiffs Have Adequately Alleged Disparate | mpact
a. Digparate Impact Upon African-Americans

To survive amationto dismissin adisparate impact case, dl that a plaintiff must do is plead that
afacidly neutrd practice's adverse affects fal disproportionately upon a protected group. Powell v.
Ridge, 189 F.3d 387, 394 (3d Cir.) cert. denied, 120 S. Ct. 579 (1999) (Title VI case). Thecourt “must
presume that the generd dlegationsin the complaint encompass the specific facts necessary to support the
dlegations” Seel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 104 (quoting Lujan v.
National Wildlife Federation, 497 U.S. 871, 889 (1990)). Furthermore, as the Supreme Court has
dated, "when afederd court reviews the sufficiency of acomplaint . . . theissue is not whether a plaintiff
will ultimately prevail but whether the clamant isentitled to offer evidence to support theclams™ Scheuer
v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974), overruled on other grounds, Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S.
800 (1982); accord Lake v. Arnold, 112 F.3d 682, 688 (3d Cir. 1997).

Inthiscase, plaintiffshave pled that the adverse effect of the Defendants CHFA' sotherwise neutral
practice will fal disproportionately upon persons who are members of protected classes. See Amended
Complaint, 59. Plantiffs are entitled, therefore, to offer evidence at trid to support this dlegation and
should not have their claims dismissed.

Inaddition, Plaintiffs have pled factswhich support their alegation that the defendants' action have
adigparate impact upon African-Americans. A primafacie case of disparate impact “is generdly shown
by satisticd evidence” Mountain Sde Mobile Estates Partnership v. Sec’y of HUD, 56 F.3d 1243,

1251 (10" Cir. 1995). In making a determination of whether there is a disparate impact, courts have

involve federal or state subsidies.
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focused on the percentages of protected class members versus non-protected class members affected by
the defendant’ spolicy or practice. See, e.g., Huntington Branch, NAACP v. Town of Huntington, 844
F.2d 926, 929 (2d Cir.), aff'd per curiam, 488 U.S. 15 (1988); Arlington 11, 558 F.2d at 1289-90;
Resident Advisory Board v. Rizzo, 425 F. Supp. 987, 1018 (E.D. Pa. 1976), modified on other grnds,
564 F.2d 126 (3d Cir. 1977).

Fantiffs have dleged that the population affected, Park Hill Gardens West resdents, are over
90% African-American, while the population of African-Americans in Denver is 12.5%. Amended
Complaint, § 17. This type of andyds of disparate impact is the same as that used by the court in
Hispanics United, 988 F. Supp. at 1155-57. That case involved demolition of a number of buildingsin
atax increment financing digtrict. The court, in goproving a settlement agreement, endorsed the notion that
the reference population may be the generd population of the town. 1d. at 1155.

Fantiffs have further pled facts which indicate that the black population of Denver has a
disproportionate need for subsidized housing. Plaintiffs have cited a HUD report which shows 43% of
Denver blacks, versus 28% of al Denver residents, have housing affordability problems. Amended
Complaint, 118. Those householdswith affordability problemswould be householdsin need of subsidized
housing such asthat a Park Hill Gardens West. Thistype of andysis follows the reasoning of Arlington
11, 558 F.2d at 1289-90 (40% of digible personsin the Chicago area were black compared to 18% of
the entire population); Huntington Branch NAACP, 844 F.2d at 929 (28% of blacks v. 11% whites

income-digible; 7% of white households v. 24% of black households “need” subsidized housing); and
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Smith v. Town of Clarkton, 682 F.2d 1055, 1064-66 (4™ Cir. 1982) (black population of the county
was far morein need of subsidized housing than the white population).®

When congdered in light of the standard that a motion to dismiss is only gppropriate when "it
appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of factsentitling it torelief,” Ash Creek Mining
v. Lujan, 969 F.2d 868, 870 (10th Cir. 1992), it is clear that Plaintiffs have adequately set forth ther
disparate impact clams so that such clams should not be dismissed.

b. Per petuation of Segregation Claim

Plaintiffs withdraw their perpetuation of segregation claim.°

B. Plaintiffs Properly Assert a Claim Against CHFA Under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 for
CHFA’sViolation of 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1437f(c)(8)(A)

By accepting the Owner’ s deficient one-year notice, CHFA has denied Plaintiff resdentstheright
to recelve proper notice of the Owner’s intent to opt out of the Section 8 program, in violaion of the
federal statutory notification requirement under 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(8)(A) asit read in July of 1999.
CHFA clamsthat this statutory provision creates* no duties of a public housing authority such as CHFA”
and that they had no authority to approve or disapprove the termination of the HAP Contract that was
scheduled to occur at the expiration of the notice.

CHFA issmply incorrect in its assertion that it has no obligations to implement the provisons of

42 U.S.C. 81437f and that it had no authority to approve or disapprove the notice under 42 U.S.C.

9 Plaintiffs have further alleged, in their proposed Third Amended Complaint, that tenants of color in the
development who are displaced, and applicants of color on the development’ swaiting list, will be disproportionately
harmed—as compared to white tenants and applicants—because they will face discrimination in the private market
and will have more difficulty in locating other housing.

10 This changeisreflected in Plaintiffs' proposed Third Amended Complaint.
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81437f. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1437f (b) authorizes the Secretary of HUD to enter into annual contributions
contracts with public housing agencies pursuant to which agencies enter into contracts to make assstance
payments to owners in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1437f. This same subsection aso requires public
housing agencies to implement the provisons of §81437f and only whereit isfound that thereisno “public
housing agency to implement the provisions of Section 1437f, ” is the Secretary authorized to enter into
contracts to make ass stance payments to owners and to perform the other functions assigned to a public
agency by Section 1437f. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(b). Courts have held that agencies, such as CHFA,
have agreed to function according to the terms of the United States Housing Act of 1937, asamended, in
contracting with HUD for annud contributions to administer subsdies. See Wright v. City of Roanoke
Redevel opment and Housing Authority (City of Roanoke), 479 U.S. 418, 423 (1987).

As dated in paragraph 51 of the Amended Complaint, CHFA has entered into an Annual
Contributions Contract withHUD and was therefore deemed by HUD under the ACCand 42U.S.C. 8§
1437f(b) to be the public housing agency. Section 1.11(a) of the Annua Contributions Contract (ACC)
between CHFA and HUD provides that the “HA must comply, and must require ownersto comply, with
the requirements of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937 and al HUD regulations and other requirements,
induding any amendments or changes in the law or HUD requirements” See Attachment | to HUD’s
Motion to Dismiss, ACC. It thus cannot be denied that CHFA is required to implement the provisions of
Section 1437f, including the one-year notice requirement under Section 1437f(c)(8)(A), asit read in July
of 1999.

In addition, HUD issued PIH Notice 98-62, “Fiscd Year 1999 Renewd of Expiring Section 8

M oderate Rehabiilitation (M od Rehab) Housing A ssistance Payments (HAP) Contracts’ on December 15,
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1998, and PIH Notice 99-22, “Clarification of PIH Notice 98-62 Governing FY 99 Renewad of Expiring
Section 8 Moderate Rehabilitation Housing Assistance Payments Contracts,” on May 20, 1999, both of
which, among other things, discussed the one-year Satutory notification requirement in Section 8(c)(8)(A)
of the United States Housing Act of 1937, codified as42 U.S.C. 1437f(c)(8)(A). Initsdiscusson of this
section, HUD gatesthat “[t]helaw a so requiresthat the owner submit the notice to HUD; however, Since
locd PHAsadminister the Mod Rehab program, the owner shall submit the notice to the appropriate PHA
instead of HUD [emphasisadded].”** Thisadditiond recuirement established by HUD isauthorized under
42 U.S.C. 14371(c)(8)(C) which explicitly required, at the pertinent time in July 1999, that dl notices
“under this paragraph shdl adso comply with any additiona requirements established by the Secretary.”
CHFA, asthe public housing agency administering the Mod Rehab program, was explicitly required, by
HUD, to act on behdf of HUD in receiving the Owner’ snotice and ensuring compliancewith the gpplicable
gatutory notification requirement at the time.22

It isexplicitly clear that CHFA was required to make sure the Owner provided sufficient notice
of itsintent to opt out of the Section 8 program one year prior to the expiration of the HAP contract to the

tenants and by falling to do so, CHFA denied Plaintiff resdents of ther rights under 42 U.S.C.

11 PIH Notice 99-22 was issued by HUD to supplement, clarify and modify the procedures outlined in
Notice PIH 98-62. Notice PIH 98-62, dated December 15, 1998, provided instructions for implementing Section 524
(a)(1) and (2) of the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform Act of 1997, as amended by the FY ‘99 Appropriations

Act, which governed the renewal of HAP contracts under the Section 8 Mod Rehab program.

12 pjaintiffs do not contend that HUD was released of its obli gations under the statute because of its
assignment of review of the notice to CHFA under Notices PIH 98-62 and 99-22. Regardless of HUD’ s assignment
of review of the notice to public housing agencies (PHA) under these notices, HUD is also bound by the statutory
notice requirements as it maintains the obligation of overseeing operations of the PHAs under the ACC, its
continued duties of affirmatively furthering fair housing goals under 42 U.S.C. § 3608, and its duty to offer
restructuring incentives to the owner under MAHRAA and the 21% Century Act.
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1437f(c)(8)(A). Therefore, Plantiffs have a proper clam of afedera satutory violation aganst CHFA
arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and CHFA’s motion to dismiss this claim should be denied.®®

C. Plaintiffs Have Properly Alleged a Claim Against CHFA for Breach of the Regulatory
Agreement

1. Plaintiffsare Third Party Beneficiaries of the CHFA Regulatory Agreement
and are Entitled to Sue to Seek its Enfor cement

Although the Flaintiffs do not dispute CHFA’sanalysisthat only intended third party beneficiaries
of a contract may sue to enforce its terms, CHFA'’s conclusion that the Plaintiffs are not the intended
beneficiaries of the disputed contract provisonsis misplaced. Without any andyss, CHFA concludesthat
the purpose of the CHFA Regulatory Agreement was solely to protect CHFA aslender and to protect the
tax-exempt status of thebonds. To cometo thisconclusion, CHFA apparently has chosen to ignorethose
portions of the Regulatory Agreement that clearly express an intent to protect low- and moderate-income
persons.

In order to determine whether the tenants are the intended beneficiaries, one need only to look to
the first lines of the Regulatory Agreement which state, “the Mortgagor has applied to the Authority for

a housing faality loan (the “Loan”) for the congtruction and permanent financing of a housing facility for

1342 U.S.C.8 1983 may be used to enforce 42 U.S.C. §1437f. See Swannv. Gastonia
Hous. Auth., 675 F.2d 1342 (4™ Cir. 1982) (8§ 1983 action where housing authority failed to give
proper notice of eviction under 42 U.S.C. §1437f). See also Hill v. Richardson, 7 F.3d 656, 658 (71"
Cir. 1993) (in action seeking attorneys fees, court found that 8 42 U.S.C. § 1437f clam colorable
under 81983 claim). In the unlikely event that the Court determines that Plaintiffs do not have a proper
right of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Paintiffs have an implied right of action under the United States
Housing Act of 1937, as amended, as there are direct, enforceable rights contained in the Act. See
City of Roanoke, 479 U.S. at 423; Hurt v. Philadelphia Hous. Auth., 806 F. Supp. 515, 526 (E.D.
Pa. 1992); and Orrego v. HUD, 701 F. Supp. 1384 (N.D. Ill. 1988), rev'd on other grds sub nom.
Orrego v. 833 West Buena Joint Venture, 943 F.2d 730 (7" Cir. 1991).
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persons of low- and moderate-income . . .7 See CHFA Regulatory Agreement, attached to Defendant
CHFA'’s Mation to Dismiss as Exhibit A. Paragraph 3 of the Regulatory Agreement restricts the owner
to operate the premises solely asarentd property and specificaly prohibits conversonsto condominiums
or other use for the designated timeperiod. 1d. Paragraph 4(a) of the Regulatory Agreement requiresthe
owner of the premises to maintain at least 75% of the units for low- or moderate-income tenants and a
least 20% of the unitsfor low-incometenants. 1d. Paragraph 4(b) of the Regulatory Agreement requires
the owner to enter into contractsthat will enable the premisesto remain subsidized for low- and moderate-
income tenants for 20 years and to seek to extend the housing subsidies for an additiond 20 years. |d.
All of these specific provisons are clearly intended to protect low- and moderate-income tenants and
prospective tenants of the Park Hill Gardens West complex.

Although the cases cited by CHFA hold that tenants are not intended third-party beneficiaries of
the particular regulatory agreements between HUD and the owners, they are not—as aleged—the only
cases in which courts have considered these clams. In fact, numerous courts have found that tenants are
entitled to sue as intended third-party beneficiaries of aHUD regulatory agreement. See, e.g., Gonzalez
v. S. Margaret’ sHouseHous. Devel. Fund Corp., 620 F. Supp. 806, 810 (S.D. N.Y. 1985) aff' d, 848
F.2d 391 (2d Cir. 1988); Concer ned Tenants Assoc. of Indian Trails Apts. v. Indian Trails Apts., 496
F. Supp. 522, 528 (N.D.IIl. 1980); Zigasv. Superior Court, 120 Cal. App. 3d 827, 835, 174 Cal. Rptr.
806, 810 (1% Dist. 1981); Guthartzv. Lewis, 408 So.2d 600, 601 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) aff’ d on other
grnds, 428 So.2d 222 (1983); Mount Snai Hosp. v. Loutsch, 119 Misc.2d 427,431, 462N.Y.S. 2d

1004 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 1983).
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Of course, the cases cited for both sides on the issue of whether tenants can sue asintended third
party beneficiaries of a HUD regulatory agreement are of limited relevance since the Plaintiffs are not
seeking to enforceaHUD regulatory agreement. In other significant ways, the cases cited by CHFA are
disinguishable from the Plaintiffs daims. Specificaly, Reiner v.West Vill. Assocs., 768 F.2d 31, 32 (2d
Cir. 1985), Falzarano v.U.S,, 607 F.2d 506, 511 (1% Cir. 1979) andHarlibv. Lynn,511 F.2d 51, 56
(7™ Cir. 1975), concerned tenantswho sought to utilize their status asthird-party beneficiariesto chalenge
the setting of rents at their complexes. Thetenantsin Littlev.Union Trust Co. of Md., 412 A.2d 1251,
1253-54 (Md. App. 1980), wereattempting to enforcethoseprovisonsof theHUD regulatory agreement
that mandated that the owner maintain the premisesingood repair. Asaddressed by theNew Y ork Courts
inReiner, 768 F.2d at 33, Mount Snai Hospital, 119 Misc.2dat 431, and Caramicov. HUD, 509 F.2d
694, 701 (2d Cir. 1974), there is aggnificant difference between tenants complaining about the setting of
rent levels and those who are chdlenging outright evictions. The Plaintiffs in this action are not only
chdlenging an eviction, but are seeking to maintain the premises as subsdized housing for themsdves and
othersin need of such housing. Thiscaseisdearly not aningancein which the tenants are micro-managing
the operations of the complex such that public policy flags might be raised to prevent the assertion of their
rights. These are tenants who are seeking to enforce the most fundamenta obligations of the CHFA
Regulatory Agreement and the requirements of the federd housing acts. Unlike the tenants in Angleton
v. Pierce, 574 F. Supp. 719, 735-36 (D .N.J. 1983), and Carson v. Pierce, 546 F. Supp. 80, 87 (E.D.
Mo. 1982), who apparently did not even reside in subsdized housing, the tenants at Park Hill Gardens
West arelow-income familiesand ederly personsfighting to maintain housing of last resort and to attempt

to make both the Owner and CHFA comply with their contractua obligations.

19



A much clearer interpretation of the third party beneficiary issue for low- and moderate-income
tenantsresding in subsidized housing can befound by examining Holbrook v. Pitt, 643 F.2d 1261, 1270-
77 (7" Cir. 1981) and its progeny. The Court in Holbrook anayzed the provisions of the contractua
documents seeking to be enforced, as well as the statutory scheme surrounding the housing at issue, to
come to the conclusion that “[i]f the tenants are not the primary beneficiaries of a program designed to
provide housing ass stance paymentsto low incomefamilies, thelegitimacy of themulti-billion dollar Section

8 program is placed in grave doubt.” 1d. at 1271; see also Ashton

v. Pierce, 716 F.2d 56, 66 (D.C. Cir. 1983), modified, 723 F.2d 70 (D.C. Cir. 1983); Gomez v. City
of El Paso, 805 F. Supp. 1363, 1368 (W.D. Tex. 1992), aff' d, 20 F.3d 1169 (5" Cir. 1984); Hurt v.
Philadelphia Hous. Auth., 806 F. Supp. 515, 527 (E.D. Pa. 1992); Henry Horner Mothers Guild v.
The Chicago Hous. Auth., 780 F. Supp. 511, 516 (N.D. I1l. 1991); Tindey v. Kemp, 750 F. Supp.
1001, 1009 (W.D. Mo. 1990).

Smilaly, the state and federa statutory mandates of both CHFA and the federal Mod Rehab
Section 8 Program are clear. The first paragraph of the legidative declaration establishing CHFA and
explaning its purpose states that “[t]he generd assembly finds and declares that there is a shortage in
Colorado of decent, safe, and sanitary housing which is within the financid capabilities of low- and
moderate-income families” C.R.S. § 29-4-702(1). Likewise, Congressauthorized Section 8 payments
“[f]or the purpose of aiding lower-income families in obtaining a decent place to live” 42 U.SC. §

1437f(a). The Nationd Housing Act's Multifamily Mortgage Insurance Programs, including insurance
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under Section 221(d)(4) of the Act, wereintended “to assigt private industry in providing housing for low
and moderate income families and displaced families” 12 U.S.C. §1715I(a). Even CHFA should admit
that the bonds at issue were only tax exempt because the premises was being used as rentd housing for
low- and moderate-income families. See 88 103 and 142(d) of the Interna Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. §
103, 142(d). Based upon the foregoing, the Plaintiffs are clearly the intended third-party beneficiaries of

the CHFA Regulatory Agreement and CHFA’s Motion to Dismiss on these grounds must be denied.

2. CHFA’s Obligations Under the Regulatory Agreement

Paragraph 18 of the CHFA Regulatory Agreement clearly intended that the parties needed prior
written gpprova of HUD in order to amend the termsof the agreement in any way. CHFA doesnot even
dlegein its motion that permission to take these actions was sought or received from HUD.

CHFA'’ s consent to prepayment of the mortgage and release of the CHFA Regulatory Agreement
was an express violaion of the terms of the agreement requiring the partiesto maintain aHAP contract in
place a the subject premisesfor an initid 20-year term.

Further, according to the express language of the agreement, both the Owner and CHFA are
meant to be bound to the use restrictions contained in paragraph 3 of the CHFA Regulatory Agreement.
The rdlevant provisons sate as follows.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties hereto, their
successors and assigns, as follows:

3. Maintenance as Rental Project. Once available for occupancy, esch residentia
unit in the Development...will berented or held availablefor rentd to the public on
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a continuous, nontrangent basis...and may not be converted to condominium or
other use.

CHFA Regulatory Agreement, 1 3. Therefore, to the extent that CHFA bound itsdlf to this provison and
has the power to take actions to enforce same, it was and is obligated to do so.

Even if this Court finds that there is only an enforcegble obligation againg the Owner based upon
the CHFA Regulatory Agreement, CHFA should not be dismissed from the action asthey are anecessary
party in order to effectuate the relief sought herein. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 19; Davis for Davisv. Dosar-
Barkus Band of the Seminole Nation of Oklahoma, 192 F.3d 951, 957-59 (10" Cir. 1999); Associated
Dry Goods Corp. v. Towers Financial Corp., 920 F.2d 1121, 1123-25 (2d Cir. 1990)

3. CHFA's Argument That Defendants Had Waived Any Requirement That the

HAP Contract Be Extended I1s Not Properly Before The Court On A Motion to
Dismiss Because It Is An Affirmative Defense And Requires Development Of
Factual |ssues

As its third argument in support of the dismissa of Haintiffs clam for breach of the CHFA
Regulatory Agreement, Defendant CHFA argues that any obligation to renew the contract was “waived
by the parties before any rights vested in Plaintiffs” CHFA Motion to Dismiss, p. 21. CHFA’s Mation
goes on to clam that the Defendants waiver of the prepayment precluson is permissble because it
occurred prior to any detrimenta reliance or acceptance of the contract by the third-party beneficiary.
CHFA Motion to Dismiss, p. 24.

By characterizing its breach of the Regulatory Agreement as a “walver,” CHFA attempts to
introduce an affirmative defense whichismore properly madein an answver. CharlesAlan Wright & Arthur

Miller, Federal Practiceand Procedure, vol. 5 §1277, at 461-62. Sincewaiver involves materiad factua

disputes outsde the complaint, it is an ingppropriate basis for a Rule 12 Motion. Manecke v. School
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Board of Pinellas County, 553 F. Supp. 787, 788, (M.D. Fla. 1982), aff' din part, rev' din part, 762
F.2d 912 (11" Cir. 1985). Plaintiffs are entitled to present a trid their evidence asto whether and if the
defendants are permitted to waive the prepayment preclusion provison, as well as whether the tenants
detrimentaly relied upon the contract’s provisons. CHFA’s waiver clam in support of its Motion to
Dismiss should be disregarded by the court.

Evenif the court wereto consder CHFA'’ s affirmative defense in ruling on the Motion to Dismiss,
it must be kept in mind that CHFA and the property owner could only “waive’ their contract obligations
if therights of the third party beneficiary had not vested. As Judge Arrg has written:

It isdso wdl established thet there is a certain point after which the named parties to the

contract may not modify or destroy the rights of the third-party beneficiary under the

contract by executing a subsequent agreement.  The language generdly used is thet this

may not be done if the rights of the beneficiary “vest” before it learns of the second

agreement. J. Cdamari & J. Perillo, The Law of Contracts8 17-11 (3d ed. 1987). The

generd ruleistha the rights of abeneficiary vest when the beneficiary “ materialy changes

his pogtion in justifidble reliance on the promise or brings suit on it or manifests assent to

it at the request of the promisor or promisee” Restatement (Second) of Contracts 8

311(3).

Williston Basin Interstate Pipeline Co. v. Western Gas Processors, Ltd., 1988 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
17543 at 11 (D. Colo. 1988). Inthis case, the very fact that tenants are ill living at Park Hill Gardens
West pursuant to subsidies administered under a HAP contract indicates that there are third party
beneficiaries who continue to rely on the continuing existence of a regulatory agreement between the
property owner and CHFA. The many ways in which the tenants have relied are issues of proof for the

plantiffsto demondrate at trid.

V. CONCLUSION
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For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs hereby request that Defendant CHFA’s Motion to Dismiss
be denied.
Dated this 23" day of October, 2000.

Respectfully submitted,

Jenifer C. Knight

Ledie F. Ebert

Geradine McCafferty

Colorado Legd Services
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

1905 Sherman Street, Suite 400
Denver, Colorado 80203
Telephone: (303) 866-9352
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